
  

 

City and County of Swansea 
 
Notice of Meeting 
 
You are invited to attend a Meeting of the 

 

Democratic Services Committee 
 

At: 
 

Remotely via Microsoft Teams 
 

On: 
 

Monday, 14 February 2022 

Time: 
 

4.30 pm 

Chair: Councillor Lynda James 
 

Membership: 
Councillors: J E Burtonshaw, N J Davies, M Durke, J A Hale, M Jones, S M Jones, 
E T Kirchner, W G Lewis, B J Rowlands, G J Tanner, L J Tyler-Lloyd and L V Walton 
 
Watch Online:  https://bit.ly/3HA4FCu  
 
 

Agenda 
Page No. 

1   Apologies for Absence.  
 
2   Disclosures of Personal and Prejudicial Interests.  

 www.swansea.gov.uk/disclosuresofinterests  
 
3   Minutes. 1 - 2 

 To approve & sign the Minutes of the previous meeting(s) as a correct 
record. 

 

 
4   Review of Councillors Handbook - Role Descriptions & Person 

Specifications. 
3 - 54 

 
5   Workplan 2021-2022. 55 
 
 

Next Meeting: Monday, 21 March 2022 at 4.00 pm 

 
 
Huw Evans 
Head of Democratic Services  
Tuesday, 8 February 2022 

Contact: Democratic Services - (01792) 636923 
 
 

https://bit.ly/3HA4FCu
www.swansea.gov.uk/disclosuresofinterests


 
 

 

City and County of Swansea 
 

Minutes of the Democratic Services Committee 
 

Remotely via Microsoft Teams  

Monday, 10 January 2022 at 4.00 pm 

 
Present: Councillor L James (Chair) Presided 

 
Councillor(s) Councillor(s) Councillor(s) 
J E Burtonshaw M Durke J A Hale 
M Jones E T Kirchner B J Rowlands 
L V Walton L J Tyler-Lloyd  
 
Officer(s)  
Allison Lowe Democratic Services Officer 
Huw Evans Head of Democratic Services 
Sarah Lackenby Head of Digital & Customer Services 
Debbie Smith Deputy Chief Legal Officer 
 
Apologies for Absence 
Councillor(s): S M Jones and W G Lewis 

 

 
27 Disclosures of Personal and Prejudicial Interests. 

 
In accordance with the Code of Conduct adopted by the City & County of Swansea, 
the following interests were declared: 
 
Councillors J E Burtonshaw, M Durke, J A Hale, L James, M Jones, E J Kirchner, B J 
Rowlands, L J Tyler-Lloyd and L V Walton declared a personal interest in Minute 29 
“Councillors ICT Allowances Policy – May 2022 & Beyond.” 
 

28 Minutes. 
 
Resolved that the Minutes of the Democratic Services Committee held on 8 
November 2021 be approved and signed as a correct record. 
 

29 Councillors ICT Allowances Policy - May 2022 & Beyond. 
 
The Head of Democratic Services and Head of Digital & Customer Services 
presented a joint report to review the “Councillors ICT Allowances Policy – May 2017 
and Beyond” and recommend a May 2022 & Beyond version to Council.  The 
amended Policy should ensure that Councillors and Statutory co-opted Members 
receive ICT provision suited to their needs and compliant with the determinations of 
the Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales (IRPW). 
 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



Minutes of the Democratic Services Committee (10.01.2022) 
Cont’d 

 

Resolved that: 
 

1)  The Head of Digital & Customer Services review the Councillors ICT 
Allowances amounts ensuring they are adequate for May 2022 & beyond 
and that the revised amounts be included in the budget process.  
 

2)  The reviewed and amended Councillors ICT Allowances Policy – May 
2022 & beyond be agreed and recommended to Council for adoption 
subject to the following amendment(s) to Appendix A: 
 
Paragraphs 4.2(a) and 5.1(a) be amended to read “They produce proof 
twice in a 5 year term of office of their Data and Telephone connection at 
their home”.  
 

3)  The Head of Digital & Customer Services provide a “Good Habits” Helpful 
Guide to Councillors setting out subjects such as Back Up & Sync etc.  
 

4)  Modern.gov software training be added to the Councillors Induction 
Programme.  

 
30 Review of Councillors Handbook. 

 
The Head of Democratic Services presented a report to review Sections A-C of the 
Councillors Handbook and to recommend the amended version for adoption by 
Council.  
 
Resolved that the amendments proposed by the Head of Democratic Services in the 
Appendices to the report be recommended to Council for adoption subject to the 
following additional amendments: 
 
Appendix B, paragraph 9 – replace “Both Teams” with “The Cabinet Office / DS 
Team.” 
 

31 Workplan 2021-2022. 
 
The Head of Democratic Services stated that whilst there were currently no agenda 
items scheduled for the next meeting, he anticipated that he would be in a position to 
present further items at the meeting scheduled for 21 March 2022. 
 
 
 
The meeting ended at 4.29 pm 
 
 

Chair 
 

Page 2



 
 

Report of the Head of Democratic Services 
 

Democratic Services Committee – 14 February 2022 
 

Review of Councillors Handbook – Role Descriptions & 
Person Specifications 

 

Purpose: To review Section D of the Councillors Handbook 
– Role Descriptions & Person Specifications and 
to recommend the amended version for adoption 
by Council. 
 

Policy Framework: None. 
 

Consultation: Access to Services, Finance, Legal. 
 
Recommendation(s): It is recommended that: 

 
1) The Welsh Local Government Association’s (WLGA) “Framework 

Member Role Descriptions and Person Specifications - June 2021” 
and the Swansea Council specific Role Descriptions as set out in 
Appendices A & B respectfully be recommended to Council for 
adoption as Section D of the Councillors Handbook. 

  
Report Author: Huw Evans 
Finance Officer: Ben Smith 
Legal Officer: Tracey Meredith 
Access to Services Officer: Rhian Millar 

 
1. Introduction 
 
1.1 The Councillors Handbook provides information to Councillors / Co-opted 

Members. Sections A-C of the Councillors Handbook was reviewed by 
the Democratic Services Committee on 10 January 2022. Section D 
“Role Descriptions & Person Specifications” was last reviewed in 2018. 

 
1.2 The review aimed to ensure that the information was correct and reflected 

any new working arrangements. 
 
1.3 The entire Councillors Handbook may be viewed at 

www.swansea.gov.uk/cllrshandbook 
 
 

Page 3

Agenda Item 4

http://www.swansea.gov.uk/cllrshandbook


2. Section D - Role Descriptions & Person Specifications 
 
2.1 Section D is currently mainly in line with the WLGA’s Framework of 

Member Role Descriptions and Person Specifications – June 2021. 
However, there are a number of Swansea Council specific entries: 

 
i) Councillor Job Roles 
ii) Scrutiny Convener Role Description 
iii) Equality Member Champion - Role Description 
iv) Chair of Policy Development Committee 

 
2.2 It is proposed that the current Section D be replaced in its entirety with 

the WLGA’s Framework of Member Role Descriptions and Person 
Specifications as set out in Appendix A of the report. 

 
2.3 The Swansea Council specific entries as set out in Appendix B of the 

report be added to those in Appendix A to form the new Section D of the 
Councillors Handbook. 

 
3. Financial Implications 
 
3.1 There are no financial implications associated with this report. 
 
4. Legal Implications 
 
4.1 There are no specific legal implications associated with this report. 
 
5. Integrated Assessment Implications 
 
5.1 The Council is subject to the Equality Act (Public Sector Equality Duty 

and the socio-economic duty), the Well-being of Future Generations 
(Wales) Act 2015 and the Welsh Language (Wales) Measure, and must 
in the exercise of their functions, have due regard to the need to: 

 

 Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and 
other conduct prohibited by the Acts. 

 Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a 
protected characteristic and those who do not. 

 Foster good relations between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not. 

 Deliver better outcomes for those people who experience socio-
economic disadvantage 

 Consider opportunities for people to use the Welsh language 

 Treat the Welsh language no less favourably than English. 

 Ensure that the needs of the present are met without compromising 
the ability of future generations to meet their own needs. 

 
5.2 The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2005 mandates that 

public bodies in Wales must carry out sustainable development. 
Sustainable development means the process of improving the economic, 

Page 4



social, environmental and cultural well-being of Wales by taking action, in 
accordance with the sustainable development principle, aimed at 
achieving the ‘well-being goals’. 

 
5.3 Our Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA) process ensures we have paid 

due regard to the above. It also takes into account other key issues and 
priorities, such as poverty and social exclusion, community cohesion, 
carers, the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child 
(UNCRC) and Welsh language. 

 
5.4 An IIA screening has been undertaken and no adverse implications have 

been noted. 
 
5.5 The review seeks to align Section D of the Councillors Handbook to match 

that of the WLGA Framework. 
 
Background papers: None 
 
Appendices: 
Appendix A WLGA Framework Member Role Descriptions and Person 

Specifications - June 2021. 
Appendix B Swansea Council Specific Role Descriptions. 
 

Page 5



1  

Framework Member Role 
Descriptions and Person 
Specifications

 June 2021

Appendix A

Page 6



2 

Welsh Local Government Association 

The WLGA’s primary purposes are to promote a better local government, its reputation and to 

support authorities in the development of policies and priorities which will improve public 

service and democracy.  

It represents the 22 local authorities in Wales with the 3 fire and rescue authorities and 3 

national park authorities as associate members. 

Welsh Local Government Association 

Local Government House 

Drake Walk 

Cardiff CF10 4LG  

029 2046 8600 | www.wlga.wales 

@WelshLGA 

Published: June  
Copyright: Welsh Local Government Association 

Appendix A

Page 7



 

3 

Background  

This is a set of generic role descriptions and person specifications for elected members. They 
are applicable in any authority and are made available as suggestions rather than prescription.  

The role descriptions set out the responsibilities and functions of the role of the elected 
member. The person specifications describe the qualities and skills required of the member in 
the role and can help when considering personal development.   

Where members undertake more than one role it is anticipated that role descriptions would 
be combined. For example: Overview and Scrutiny committee chairs would be expected to 
undertake the role of, Elected member, Overview and Scrutiny Member and Overview and 
Scrutiny Chair.  

These role descriptions are designed to be used alongside the Welsh Member Development 
(Competency) Framework  which describes the skills knowledge and behaviours required of 
Councillors   

This document has been produced collaboratively by the Welsh local Government Association, 
working with members and officers from all the authorities in Wales. It takes account of all the 
UK and Wales legislation affecting the role of members, including, most recently, the Local 
Government and elections (Wales) Act 2021.  

Please contact Sarah Titcombe, Policy, and Improvement Officer (Democratic Services)  
WLGA. Tel 029 2046 8638 or e mail sarah.titcombe@wlga.gov.uk   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix A

Page 8

https://www.wlga.wales/councillor-development-competency-framework
https://www.wlga.wales/councillor-development-competency-framework


 

4 

 

 

Contents  

Role description  Page  

▪ Elected Member                                                                                                            5 
 

▪ Leader (and Deputy)                                                                                                      7 
 

▪ Cabinet Member                                                                                                           10 
 

▪ Chair of the Council                                                                                                       12 
 

▪ Chair of Democratic Services Committee                                                                  14 
 

▪ Member of Democratic Services Committee                                                            16 
 

▪ Chair of a Regulatory Committee                                                                                18 
 

▪ Member of a Regulatory Committee                                                                          19 
 

▪ Chair of Standards Committee                                                                                     21 
 

▪ Member of Standards Committee                                                                               23 
 

▪ Chair of Governance and Audit Committee                                                               25 
 

▪ Member of Governance and Audit Committee                                                         27 
 

▪ Overview and Scrutiny Chair                                                                                         29 
 

▪ Overview and Scrutiny Member                                                                                   32 
 

▪ Leader of the Opposition                                                                                               35 
 

▪ Political Group Leader                                                                                                    37 
 

▪ Member Champion Purpose and Role                                                                        41 
 

▪ Member Champion Role Description                                                                          43   
 
  

Appendix A

Page 9



 

5 

Elected Member Role Description  

1. Accountabilities  

▪ To Full Council 
▪ To the electorate of their ward 

2. Role Purpose and Activity  

             Representing and supporting communities 

▪ To represent ward interests 
▪ To be an advocate for the Council in the ward and communities they serve 
▪ To be a channel of communication to the community on council strategies, policies, 

services, and procedures 
▪ To represent individual constituents and local organisations, undertaking casework 

on their behalf and serving all fairly and equally 
▪ To liaise with executive members, other council members, council officers and 

partner organisations to ensure that the needs of the local communities are 
identified, understood, and supported. 

▪ To be vigilant and do everything possible to protect adults and children at risk from 
abuse. 

▪ To promote tolerance and cohesion in local communities 

  Making decisions and overseeing council performance 

▪ To participate in Full Council meetings, reaching and making informed and 
balanced decisions, and overseeing performance 

▪ To participate in informed and balanced decision making on committees and 
panels to which they might be appointed. 

▪ To adhere to the principles of democracy and collective responsibility in decision 
making 

▪ To take corporate responsibility for the protection of vulnerable children and 
adults 

▪ To promote and ensure efficiency and effectiveness in the provision of council and 
other public services. 

   Representing the Council (subject to appointment) 

▪ To represent the Council on local outside bodies as an appointee of the Council 
▪ To represent the Council on local partnership bodies, promoting common interest 

and co-operation for mutual gain 
▪ To represent and be an advocate for the Council on national bodies and at national 

events 

 

 

Appendix A

Page 10



 

6 

Internal governance, ethical standards, and relationships 

▪ To promote and support good governance of the Council and its affairs. 
▪ To provide community leadership and promote active citizenship. 
▪ To promote and support open and transparent government. 
▪ To support, and adhere to respectful, appropriate, and effective relationships 

with employees, the public and other members of the Council. 
▪ To adhere to the Member’s Code of Conduct, member/officer protocols and the 

highest standards of behaviour in public office  
▪ To have regard to the requirements of the Group Leader (where one exists) in 

matters of conduct and behaviour. 
▪ To promote equalities and diversity 

 
Personal and role development 
To actively identify individual needs and participate in opportunities for development 
provided for members by the authority. 

3. Values  

To be committed to the values of the Council and the following values in public   
office 

▪ Openness and transparency 
▪ Honesty and integrity 
▪ Tolerance and respect 
▪ Equality and fairness 
▪ Appreciation of cultural difference 
▪ Sustainability  

Appendix A

Page 11



 

7 

Leader (and Deputy) Role Description  

1. Accountabilities  

▪ To Full Council 
▪ To the Public 

2. Role Purpose and Activity  

Providing political leadership to the Council 

▪ To be a political figurehead for the Council; to be the principal political 
spokesperson for the Council. 

▪ To provide leadership in building a political consensus around council policies 
▪ To form a vision for the Council and community 
▪ To provide strong, clear leadership in the co-ordination of policies, strategies, and 

service delivery 

       Appointing the Cabinet* 

▪ To designate the appropriate portfolios 
▪ To appoint appropriate elected members to each portfolio 
▪  To allocate cabinet members to roles with regards to their abilities.   
▪ To designate the Deputy Leader.     

      Representing and acting as ambassador for the Authority 

▪ To represent the Authority to a high standard. Provide a strong, competent, and 
eloquent figure to represent the Authority both within the County and at external 
bodies. 

▪ To represent the Authority on the WLGA coordinating committee and the WLGA 
regional partnership board. 

▪ To provide leadership and support local partnerships and organisations. 
▪ To represent the Authority in regional and national bodies as appropriate. 

Providing leadership within the portfolio 

▪ To fulfil the role of a portfolio holder, having regard to the role purpose and 
activities, and role specification of an executive member 

▪ Managing and leading the work of the Cabinet and chairing meetings 

▪ To ensure the effective running of the Cabinet by managing the forward work 
programme and ensuring its continuing development. 

▪ To ensure the work of the Cabinet meets national policy objectives. 
▪ To agree objectives with Cabinet Members and monitor progress. 

▪ To advise and mentor other cabinet members in their work. 
▪ To chair meetings of the Cabinet in line with the Constitution. 

Appendix A

Page 12



 

8 

▪ In the Leader’s absence the Deputy Leader should fulfil this role. 

▪ Participating in the collective decision making of the Cabinet 

 

▪ To work closely with other cabinet members to ensure the development of 
effective council policies and the budgetary framework for the Council, and the 
delivery of high-quality services to local people. 

▪ To accept collective responsibility and support decisions made by the Cabinet once 
they have been made. 

▪ Working with officers to lead the organisation. 

▪ To liaise with the Chief Executive, and other appropriate officers, on a regular basis 
▪ To work with employees of the Council in relation to the strategic vision and 

direction of the Council, the management roles of officers and the development of 
policy issues. 

▪ Leading partnerships and community leadership 

▪ To give leadership to local strategic partnerships and local partners in the pursuit of 
common aims and priorities 

▪ To negotiate and broker in cases of differing priorities and disagreement. 
▪ To act as a leader of the local community by showing vision and foresight 

▪ Internal governance, ethical standards, and relationships 

▪ To promote and support good governance of the Council and its affairs. 
▪ To provide community leadership and promote active citizenship. 
▪ To promote and support open and transparent government. 
▪ To support, and adhere to respectful, appropriate, and effective relationships with 

employees of the Council. 
▪ To adhere to the Member’s Code of Conduct, Member/Officer Protocol, and the 

highest standards of behaviour in public office 

3. Values  

▪ To be committed to and demonstrate the following values in public office: 
▪ Openness and transparency 
▪ Honesty and integrity 
▪ Tolerance and respect 
▪ Equality and fairness 
▪ Appreciation of cultural difference 
▪ Sustainability 
▪ Inclusive leadership 
▪ Consensus building 

 

 
 

Appendix A

Page 13



 

9 

Deputy Leader  

▪ To fulfil the duties of the Leader in his or her absence 
▪ To assist the Leader in specific duties as required 

* Under constitutional arrangements for a cabinet model, either the Full Council or the Leader 
may appoint the Cabinet. In Wales it is common practice for the Leader to appoint the Cabinet 
under this model. This Role Description has been written accordingly, noting that councils may 
vary this arrangement.   

Appendix A

Page 14



 

10 

Cabinet Member Role Description  

1. Accountabilities  

▪ To the Leader 
▪ To the Cabinet (through collective responsibility) 
▪ To Full Council 

2. Role Purpose and Activities  

Providing portfolio leadership 

▪ To give political direction to officers working within the portfolio 
▪ To gain the respect of officers within the portfolio; provide support to officers in 

the implementation of portfolio programmes. 
▪ To provide leadership in the portfolio 
▪ To liaise with the appropriate scrutiny chair and receive scrutiny reports as 

required. 
▪ To be accountable for choices and performance in the portfolio 
▪ To have an overview of the performance management, efficiency, and 

effectiveness of the portfolio 
▪ To make executive decisions within the Portfolio* 

Contributing to the setting of the strategic agenda and work programme for the 
portfolio 

▪ To work with officers to formulate policy documents both strategic and statutory. 
▪ Ensure that the political will of the majority is carried to and through the Cabinet. 
▪ To provide assistance in working up and carrying through a strategic work 

programme both political and statutory  
▪ Carry out consultations with stakeholders as required.  
▪ Make sure that the portfolio’s forward work programme is kept up to date and 

accurate. 

Providing representation for the portfolio 

▪ To provide a strong, competent, and persuasive figure to represent the portfolio.  
▪ Be a figurehead in meetings with stakeholders. 

Reporting and accounting 

▪ To report as appropriate to the Leader, Full Council, Cabinet, appropriate chair of 
scrutiny, regulatory bodies, and the media. 

▪ To agree objectives with the Leader and report progress. 

▪ To be the principal political spokesperson for the portfolio. 
▪ To appear before scrutiny committees in respect of matters within the portfolio. 

 
 

Appendix A

Page 15



 

11 

 
Taking an active part in cabinet meetings and decision making  

  

▪ To show an interest in and support for the portfolios of others  
▪ To recognise and contribute to issues which cut across portfolios or are issues of 

collective responsibility.   
  

Leading partnerships and community leadership   
  

▪ To give leadership to local strategic partnerships and local partners in the pursuit of 
common aims and priorities  

▪ To negotiate and broker in cases of differing priorities and disagreement.  
▪ To act as a leader of the local community by showing vision and foresight     

  

Internal governance, ethical standards, and relationships  
  

▪ To promote and support good governance of the Council and its affairs.  
▪ To provide community leadership and promote active citizenship.  
▪ To promote and support open and transparent government.   
▪ To support, and adhere to respectful, appropriate, and effective relationships with 

employees of the Council.  
▪ To adhere to the Members’ Code of Conduct, Member/Officer Protocol, and the 

highest standards of behaviour in public office         
  

3. Values  
 

To be committed to the values of the Council and the following values in public 

office:  

   

▪ Openness and transparency  
▪ Honesty and integrity  
▪ Tolerance and respect  
▪ Equality and fairness  
▪ Appreciation of cultural difference  
▪ Sustainability  
▪ Inclusive leadership  

  

* This only applies under constitutional arrangements where individual cabinet members 
or combinations of cabinet members are given individual responsibility for making 
decisions on behalf of the Executive.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix A

Page 16



 

12 

Chair of the Council Role Description  
          Also suitable for Mayor* and Presiding Officer   

  

1.Accountabilities  
  

▪ To Full Council  
  

2.Role Purpose and Activity  
  

Acting as a symbol of the Council’s democratic authority  

  

▪ As the ceremonial head of the Council, to be non-political and uphold the democratic 
values of the Council.  

▪ To represent the Council at civic and ceremonial functions   
  

Chairing Council meetings  
  

▪ To preside over meetings of the Council, so that its business can be carried out 
efficiently.  

▪ To ensure the Council conducts its meetings in line with the Council’s Standing Orders  
  

Upholding and promoting the Council’s Constitution  
  

▪ To ensure the Constitution is adhered to and, if necessary, to rule on the interpretation 
of the Constitution  
  

Internal governance, ethical standards, and relationships  
  

▪ To promote and support good governance of the Council and its affairs.  
▪ To provide community leadership and promote active citizenship.  
▪ To promote and support open and transparent government.   
▪ To support, and adhere to respectful, appropriate, and effective relationships with 

employees of the Council.  
▪ To adhere to the Members’ Code of Conduct, Member/Officer Protocol, and the 

highest standards of behaviour in public office         
  

Work programming  
  

▪ To prepare and manage an annual work programme for the Council to meet its legal 
obligations (e.g. setting the budget and the Council Tax and making appointments)   
 
  

  

  

 

  

  

Appendix A

Page 17



 

13 

3.Values  
  

To be committed to the values of the Council and the following values in public office:    
 
▪ Openness and transparency  
▪ Honesty and integrity  
▪ Tolerance and respect  
▪ Equality and fairness  
▪ Appreciation of cultural difference  
▪ Sustainability  

  

Vice Chair  
  

▪       To fulfil the duties of the Chair in his or her absence  

▪       To assist the Chair in specific duties as required  
  

* This Role Description describes the duties of the Chair or Presiding Officer of the Full Council 
or the Mayor in presiding over Council Meetings.  
It does not provide the detail of the wider ambassadorial or ceremonial responsibilities 
required of the Mayor.  
  

  

Appendix A

Page 18



 

  14 

Chair of Democratic Services Committee Role Description   
  

1. Accountabilities 
 

▪      To Full Council  
  

2. Role Purpose and Activity  
  

Providing leadership and direction  
  

▪ To provide confident and effective management of meetings to facilitate inclusivity, 

participation and clear decision making.   

▪ To lead the committee in its role in:   
▪ Designating the head of Democratic Services  
▪ Keeping under review the provision of staff, accommodation and other resources made 

available to the Head of Democratic services, ensuring that these are adequate.  
▪ Make annual reports to the full council in relation to the above o Appointing sub 

committees and chairs of subcommittees to undertake functions delegated by the 
committee.  

▪ Considering reports prepared by the Head of Democratic Services o Developing the 
Authority’s member support and development strategy.  

▪ Ensuring that members have access to a reasonable level of training and development 
as described in the Authority’s member development strategy and the Wales Charter 
for Member Support and Development  

▪ Ensuring that the budget for member development is sufficient o Ensuring that 
members have access to personal development planning and annual personal 
development reviews.  

▪ Work with the member support and development champion where relevant to 

promote the role of members and necessary support and development.   

▪ To demonstrate integrity and impartiality in decision making which accord with legal, 
constitutional and policy requirements.  

  

Promoting the role of the Democratic Services Committee   
  

▪ To act as an ambassador for the DS committee, facilitating understanding of the role  
▪ To act within technical, legal and procedural requirements to oversee the functions of 

the committee fairly and correctly.  
▪ To ensure thoroughness and objectivity in the committee, receiving and responding 

to professional advice in the conduct of meetings.  
  

Internal governance, ethical standards, and relationships  
  

▪ To develop the standing and integrity of the committee and its decision making  
▪ To understand the respective roles of members, officers and external parties 

operating within the Democratic services committee’s area of responsibility  

▪ To promote and support good governance by the Council.  
  

Appendix A

Page 19



 

  15 

3. Values  
  

▪   To be committed to the values of the council and the following values in public office:   
▪ Openness and transparency  
▪ Honesty and integrity  
▪ Tolerance and respect  
▪ Equality and fairness  
▪ Appreciation of cultural differences  
▪ Sustainability   

Appendix A

Page 20



 

  16 

Member of a Democratic Services Committee Role Description   
  

1. Accountabilities  

 
▪ To Full Council  
▪ To the Chair of the Democratic Services committee  
  

2.   Role purpose and activity  
  

Understanding the nature of the Democratic Services committee:  
 

▪ To be aware of and effectively undertake the role of the committee in:  
▪ Designating the head of Democratic Services  
▪  Keeping under review the provision of staff, accommodation and other resources 

made available to the Head of Democratic services, ensuring that these are adequate  
▪ Make annual reports to the full council in relation to the above  
▪ Appointing sub committees and chairs of subcommittees to undertake functions 

delegated by the committee.  
▪ Considering reports prepared by the Head of Democratic Services  
▪ Developing the Authority’s member support and development strategy  
▪ Ensuring that members have access to a reasonable level of training and development 

as described in the member development strategy and the Wales Charter for Member 
Support and Development  

▪ Ensuring that the budget for member development is sufficient  
▪ Ensuring that members have access to personal development planning and annual 

personal development reviews  
▪ To have sufficient technical, legal and procedural knowledge to contribute fairly and 

correctly to the function of the committee.  
▪ To be thorough and objective in receiving and responding to professional advice in the 

conduct of meetings and issues before the committee   
  

Participating in meetings and making decisions  
  

▪ To participate effectively in meetings of the Democratic services committee,   
▪ To make informed and balanced decisions, within the terms of reference of the 

committee, which accord with legal, constitutional and policy requirements  

  

Internal governance, ethical standards and relationships  
  

▪ To ensure the integrity of the committee’s decision making and of his/ her own role by 
adhering to the Code of Conduct(s) and other constitutional and legal requirements   

▪ To promote and support good governance by the Council   
▪ To understand the respective roles of members, officers and external parties operating 

within the Democratic Services committee’s area of responsibility  
  

 

Appendix A

Page 21



 

  17 

3.  Values  
  

▪ To be committed to the values of the Council and the following values in public office:   
▪ Openness and transparency  
▪ Honesty and integrity  
▪ Tolerance and respect  
▪ Equality and fairness  
▪ Appreciation of cultural difference  
▪ Sustainability  

  

Appendix A

Page 22



 

   18 

Chair of a Regulatory Committee Role Description  
  

1.     Accountabilities  

▪ To Full Council  
▪ To the members of the regulatory committee  

  

2.      Role Purpose and Activity  
  

Providing leadership and direction  
 

▪ To provide confident and effective management of meetings to facilitate inclusivity,         

participation and clear decision making  

▪ To ensure that applicants and other interested parties are satisfied as to the 
transparency of the regulatory process  

▪ To demonstrate integrity and impartiality in decision making which accord with legal, 
constitutional and policy requirements  To delegate actions to sub committees as 
appropriate  

  

Promoting the role of the regulatory committee and quasi-judicial decision making  
 

▪ To act as an ambassador for the regulatory committee, facilitating understanding of 
the role  

▪ To act within technical, legal and procedural requirements to oversee the functions 
of the committee fairly and correctly  

▪ To ensure thoroughness and objectivity in the committee, receiving and responding 
to professional advice in the conduct of meetings and in individual cases/applications 
before formal committee meetings  

  

Internal governance, ethical standards and relationships  
  

▪ To develop the standing and integrity of the committee and its decision making  
▪ To understand the respective roles of members, officers and external parties 

operating within the regulatory committee’s area of responsibility  To promote and 
support good governance by the Council.  

  

3.   Values  
  

▪ To be committed to the values of the council and the following values in public 
office:   

▪ Openness and transparency  
▪ Honesty and integrity  
▪ Tolerance and respect  
▪ Equality and fairness  
▪ Appreciation of cultural differences  
▪ Sustainability  

Appendix A

Page 23



 

19 

 
 

Member of a Regulatory Committee Role Description  
  

1.    Accountabilities  
  

▪ To Full Council  
▪ To the Chair of the regulatory committee  

  

2.    Role purpose and activity  
  

Understanding the nature of the regulatory committee and quasi-judicial decision 
making  

  

▪ To be aware of the quasi-judicial nature of regulatory committee decision making  
▪ To have sufficient technical, legal and procedural knowledge to contribute fairly and 

correctly to the function of the committee   
▪ To be thorough and objective in receiving and responding to professional advice in 

the conduct of meetings and individual cases/applications before the committee    
  

Participating in meetings and making decisions  
  

▪ To participate effectively in meetings of the regulatory committee, ensuring that 
both local considerations and policy recommendations are balanced to contribute to 
effective decision making  

▪ To make informed and balanced decisions, within the terms of reference of the 
committee, which accord with legal, constitutional and policy requirements  

  

Internal governance, ethical standards and relationships  
  

▪ To ensure the integrity of the committee’s decision making and of his/ her own role 
by adhering to the Code of Conduct(s) and other constitutional and legal 
requirements  

▪ To promote and support good governance by the Council  
▪ To understand the respective roles of members, officers and external parties 

operating within the regulatory committee’s area of responsibility  
  

3.    Values  
  

To be committed to the values of the Council and the following values in public office:   
 

▪ Openness and transparency  
▪ Honesty and integrity  
▪ Tolerance and respect  
▪ Equality and fairness  

Appendix A

Page 24



 

   20 

▪ Appreciation of cultural difference  
▪ Sustainability  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Appendix A

Page 25



 

21 

 

Chair of Standards Committee Role Description 

1.  Accountabilities 

▪ To Full Council 

2.  Role Purpose and Activity 

Providing leadership and direction to the committee 

▪ To act within technical, legal and procedural requirements to oversee the  

▪ functions of the committee fairly and correctly 

▪ To ensure thoroughness and objectivity in the committee, when receiving and 

responding to professional advice on the Code of Conduct 

▪ To demonstrate independence, integrity and impartiality in decision making which 

accords with legal, constitutional and policy requirements 

▪ To provide confident and effective management of meetings to facilitate inclusivity, 

participation and clear decision making 

 

To lead the committee in its role in:  

▪ Promoting and maintaining high standards of conduct by Councillors, lay members 

and co-opted members  

▪ Assisting all members in their observance of the Members’ Code of Conduct 

▪ Advising the Council on the adoption or revision of the Members’ Code of Conduct 

▪ Monitoring the operation of the Members’ Code of Conduct; 

▪ Advising, training or arranging to train Councillors and co-opted members on matters 

relating to the Members’ Code of Conduct; 

▪ Granting dispensations to Councillors and co-opted members  

▪ Dealing with any reports from a case tribunal or interim case tribunal, and any report 

from the Monitoring Officer on any matter referred to that officer by the Public 

Services Ombudsman for Wales. 

▪ Developing and applying any local resolution protocols 

▪ The exercise of these functions (above) in relation to community councils and the 

members of those community councils 

▪ Working with Political Group Leaders to promote and maintain high standards of 

conduct by the Group members 

▪ Monitoring compliance by Leaders of Political Groups with their duty to take 

reasonable steps to promote and maintain high standards of conduct by members of 

the Group and advising, training or arranging to train the Leaders of Political Groups 

about these duties. (From May 2022) 

▪ Making an annual report to the Authority (first report due in respect of the 2022/23 
financial year, as soon as possible after year end) describing how the committee’s 
functions have been discharged during the financial year. The report may include any 
matter within the functions of the committee. The report must include: 

Appendix A

Page 26



 

   22 

▪ How the committee has discharged its legal duties, particularly, how the committee 
has monitored the compliance of Group Leaders with their duties to take reasonable 
steps to promote and maintain high standards of conduct by members of the Group 
and the work of the Committee in advising, training or arranging to train the Leaders 
of Political Groups about these duties. 

▪ The degree of compliance of Group Leaders with their duty to take reasonable steps 
to promote and maintain high standards of conduct by members of the Group 
 

3. Values 

To be committed to the values of the council and the following values in public office: 

▪ Openness and transparency 
▪ Honesty and integrity 
▪ Tolerance and respect 
▪ Equality and fairness 
▪ Appreciation of cultural differences 
▪ Sustainability 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix A

Page 27



 

23 

 

 

Member of a Standards Committee Role Description 

1. Accountabilities 

▪ To Full Council 
▪ To the Chair of the Standards Committee 

2. Role purpose and activity 

Participating in meetings and making decisions 

▪ To participate effectively in meetings of the Standards committee 

▪ To make informed and balanced decisions, within the terms of reference of the 

committee, which accord with legal, constitutional and policy requirements, internal 

governance, ethical standards and relationships 

▪ To ensure the integrity of the committee’s decision making and of her/his own role by 

adhering to the Code of Conduct and other constitutional and legal requirements 

▪ To promote and support good governance by the Council 

To contribute to the role of the Standards Committee in effectively fulfilling its 

functions and to support the Committee Chair by: 

▪ Promoting and maintaining high standards of conduct by Councillors, lay members 

and co-opted members  

▪ Assisting Councillors, lay members and co-opted members in their observance of the 

Members’ Code of Conduct 

▪ Advising the Council on the adoption or revision of the Members’ Code of Conduct. 

▪ Monitoring the operation of the Members’ Code of Conduct 

▪ Advising, training or arranging to train Councillors, lay members and co-opted 

members on matters relating to the Members’ Code of Conduct 

▪ Granting dispensations to Councillors and co-opted members  

▪ Dealing with any reports from a case tribunal or interim case tribunal, and any report 

from the Monitoring Officer on any matter referred to that officer by the Public 

Services Ombudsman for Wales 

▪ Contributing to the development and application of any local resolution protocol 

▪ The exercise of these functions (above) in relation to community councils and the 

members of those community councils 

▪ Working with Political Group Leaders to promote and maintain high standards of 

conduct by the Group members 

▪ Monitoring compliance by Leaders of Political Groups with their duty to take 

reasonable steps to promote and maintain high standards of conduct by members of 

the Group and advising, training or arranging to train the Leaders of Political Groups 

about these duties. (From May 2022) 

Appendix A

Page 28



 

   24 

▪ Making an annual report to the Authority (first report due in respect of the 2022/23 
financial year, as soon as possible after year end) describing how the committee’s 
functions have been discharged during the financial year. The report may include any 
matter within the functions of the committee. The report must include: 

▪ How the committee has discharged its legal duties, particularly, how the committee 
has monitored the compliance of Group Leaders with their duties to take reasonable 
steps to promote and maintain high standards of conduct by members of the Group 
and the work of the Committee in advising, training or arranging to train the Leaders 
of Political Groups about these duties  

▪ The degree of compliance of Group Leaders with their duty to take reasonable steps 
to promote and maintain high standards of conduct by members of the Group 

 

3. Values 

To be committed to the values of the Council and the following values in public office:  

▪ Openness and transparency 

▪ Honesty and integrity 

▪ Tolerance and respect 

▪ Equality and fairness 

▪ Appreciation of cultural difference 

▪ Sustainability 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Appendix A

Page 29



 

25 

 

 
 
 

 
Chair of Governance and Audit Committee Role Description 

 
1. Accountabilities 
 
▪ To Full Council  
 
2. Role Purpose and Activity 
 

Providing leadership and direction 
 
▪ To demonstrate independence, integrity, and impartiality in decision making according 

to legal, constitutional and policy requirements 
▪ To provide confident and effective management of meetings to facilitate inclusivity, 

participation and clear decision making 
▪ To comply with the authority’s Code of Conduct 
▪ To work according to the Terms of Reference for the Committee 
▪ To work with senior officers of the authority including the Chief Financial Officer and 

Head of Internal Audit (or equivalent), to agree the forward work programme and to 
set agendas for the Committee. 

▪ To work with other members of the authority to ensure that the work of the 
Committee is communicated to and aligns with that of the Cabinet, Standards and 
Scrutiny functions whilst maintaining appropriate independence.  

▪ To promote the role of the committee within the authority.  
▪ To report as required to Council 
▪ To participate in and contribute to training and development required for the role 
▪ To support committee members to develop the skills required for the role. 
▪ To lead the committee in responding to any recommendations made by the Auditor 

General for Wales 
 
Leading the Committee in its role in reviewing and scrutinising the authority’s financial 
affairs  
 

▪ Make reports and recommendations in relation to the authority’s financial affairs  
▪ Oversee the authority’s internal and external audit arrangements 
▪ Work with internal and external auditors  
▪ Review the financial statements prepared by the authority and approve them when 

powers are delegated including making relevant reports and recommendations 
 
Leading the Committee in its role in contributing to the effective performance of the 
authority 
 

Appendix A

Page 30



 

   26 

▪ Review the draft report of the authority’s annual self-assessment. Make 
recommendations for changes to the conclusions or actions that the authority 
intends to take 

▪ Make recommendations in response to the draft report of the authority’s Panel 
Assessment (commissioned once per term from May 2022) 

▪ Review and assess the authority’s ability to handle complaints effectively.  
▪ Make reports and recommendations to the authority about the authority’s ability to 

handle complaints effectively.  
 
 
 
Leading the Committee in its role in Reviewing and assessing the Governance, Risk 
Management and Control of the authority 
 

▪ Review and assess the risk management, internal control, and corporate governance 
arrangements of the authority 

▪ Make reports and recommendations to the authority on the adequacy and 
effectiveness of those arrangements 

▪ Review and assess the financial risks associated with corporate governance, and be 
satisfied that the authority’s assurance statements including the annual governance 
statement reflect the risk environment and any activities required to improve it 

 
3. Values 
 
▪ To be committed to the values of the council and the following values in public 

office: 
▪ Openness and transparency 
▪ Honesty and integrity 
▪ Tolerance and respect 
▪ Equality and fairness 
▪ Appreciation of cultural differences 

Sustainability 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Appendix A

Page 31



 

27 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Member of Governance and Audit Committee Role Description 
 

1. Accountabilities 

 
▪ To Full Council 
▪ To the Chair of the Committee 

 
2. Role purpose and activity  
 

Participating in meetings of the committee and making decisions  
 

▪ To demonstrate independence, integrity, and impartiality in decision making according 
to legal, constitutional and policy requirements. 

▪ To have regard to the requirements of the Chair of the Committee and the 
professional advice of senior officers of the authority including the Chief Financial 
Officer and Head of Internal Audit (or equivalent) 

▪ To Comply with the authority’s Code of Conduct 
▪ To work according to the Terms of Reference for the Committee 
▪ To contribute to the development of the forward work programme for the 

Committee.  
▪ To promote the role of the committee within the authority 
▪ To report as required to Council 
▪ To respond to any recommendations made by the Auditor General for Wales 
▪ To participate in any training and development required for the role 

 
 

Contributing to the work of the Committee in its role in:  
 

Reviewing and scrutinising the authority’s financial affairs  
 
▪ Make reports and recommendations in relation to the authority’s financial affairs  
▪ Oversee the authority’s internal and external audit arrangements 
▪ Work with internal and external auditors  
▪ Review the financial statements prepared by the authority and approve them when 

powers are delegated including making relevant reports and recommendations.   
 

Contributing to the effective performance of the authority 
 
▪ Review the draft report of the authority’s annual self-assessment and make 

recommendations for changes to the conclusions or actions that the authority intends 
to take 

Appendix A

Page 32



 

   28 

▪ Make recommendations in response to the draft report of the authority’s Panel 
Assessment (commissioned once per term from May 2022) 

▪ Review and assess the authority’s ability to handle complaints effectively.  
▪ Make reports and recommendations in relation to the authority’s ability to handle 

complaints effectively.  
 
Reviewing and assessing the Governance, Risk Management and Control of the authority 
 

▪ Review and assess the risk management, internal control, and corporate governance 
arrangements of the authority 

▪ Make reports and recommendations to the authority on the adequacy and 
effectiveness of those arrangements 

▪ Review and Assess the financial risks associated with corporate governance, and be 
satisfied that the authority’s assurance statements, including the annual governance 
statement, reflects the risk environment and any activities required to improve it 

 
 
3. Values 
 

▪ To be committed to the values of the council and the following values in public office: 
▪ Openness and transparency 
▪ Honesty and integrity 
▪ Tolerance and respect 
▪ Equality and fairness 
▪ Appreciation of cultural differences 
▪ Sustainability 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Appendix A

Page 33



 

29 

Overview and Scrutiny Chair Role Description  
  

1. Accountabilities   
  

▪ To Full Council  
▪ To the Public  
▪ To the Committee  

  

2. Role purpose & activity  
  

Providing leadership and direction  
  

▪ To provide confident and effective management of the committee   
▪ To promote the role of overview and scrutiny within the council, liaising effectively with 

officers, executive members and colleague chairs  
▪ To promote the integral role and contribution of scrutiny within the authority’s wider 

improvement planning and reporting arrangements  
▪ To lead joint scrutiny activities with other authorities or organisations when required  
▪ To champion and promote the role of Overview and Scrutiny to the public, helping the 

public better understand and, crucially, contribute to and engage with the scrutiny 
process.   

▪ To promote the role of Overview and Scrutiny to partner bodies, helping them to 
understand and engage with the Scrutiny function.   

▪ To demonstrate an objective and evidence-based approach to overview and scrutiny 
ensuring that scrutiny inquiries are methodologically sound and incorporate a wide 
range of evidence and perspectives   

▪ To follow-up scrutiny recommendations, evaluate the impact and added value of 
overview and scrutiny activity and identify areas for improvement   

▪ Work closely with scrutiny support staff to drive continual improvements in scrutiny  
▪ Assist in publicising the work of the scrutiny committee  

  

Managing the work programme  
  

▪ To develop a balanced work programme for the committee which includes pre decision 
scrutiny, policy development and review, investigative scrutiny, holding the executive 
to account, and performance monitoring  

▪ To ensure the programme takes account of relevant factors such as: the work 
programmes of the executive and other committees, strategic priorities and risks, audit 
and regulatory reports and recommendations, single-integrated plan and partners 
strategic priorities and relevant community issues  

▪ To ensure that the public are engaged in scrutiny activities by informing them about the 
work programme and encouraging participation  

▪ To ensure that the work programme is delivered   
▪ To report on progress against the work programme to Council, and others as 

appropriate   

Appendix A

Page 34



 

   30 

▪ To ensure that the work programme is manageable, and the workload delegated and 
prioritised to focus on the areas of most benefit or greatest risk to the organisation.   

▪ To ensure that task and finish/working/subgroups have clear terms of reference and 
deliver the required outcomes.   

   

Leading Joint Scrutiny  
  

▪ To apply the appropriate tests and criteria when deciding whether or not to undertake 
joint scrutiny  

▪ To ensure that regional bodies and partnerships are held to account and that their 
plans are subject to scrutiny  

▪ To develop protocols and terms of reference for joint working  
▪ To ensure public engagement in joint scrutiny activities  
▪ To enable the pooling of scrutiny resources for effective working and outcomes  
▪ To ensure the equal participation and contribution from all partners as appropriate  

  

Effective meeting management   
  

▪ To plan and set agendas containing clear objectives and outcomes for the meeting  
▪ To ensure that necessary preparation is done beforehand, if necessary, through pre-

meetings, including agreeing appropriate lines of questioning  
▪ To ensure that the approach to overview and scrutiny is impartial and that the 

committee meeting is conducted without political whipping (as per the Local 
Government (Wales) Measure 2011)  

▪ To manage the progress of business at meetings, ensuring that meeting objectives are 
met, and the code of conduct, standing orders and other constitutional requirements 
are adhered to  

▪ To ensure that all participants have an opportunity to make an appropriate 
contribution  

▪ To ensure that members of the public are able to contribute to meetings and 
understand the protocols for public speaking.  

  

Involvement and development of committee members  
  

▪ To encourage effective contributions from all committee members in both committee 
and task and finish groups   

▪ To assess individual and collective performance within the committee and work to 
improve scrutiny outcomes  

▪ To ensure that committee members have the appropriate knowledge and skills to 
undertake their roles and work with lead members and officers to secure appropriate 
development.    

  

3. Values 

To be committed to the values of the Council and the following values in public office:  

Appendix A

Page 35



 

31 

▪ Openness and transparency 
▪ Honesty and integrity 
▪ Tolerance and respect 
▪ Equality and fairness 
▪ Appreciation of cultural difference 
▪ Sustainability  

Appendix A

Page 36



 

   32 

Overview and Scrutiny Member Role Description  
  

1 Accountabilities   
  

▪ Chair of the appropriate scrutiny committee  
▪ Full Council  
▪ The public  

  

2 Role purpose & activity  
  

▪ To participate fully in the activities of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, the 
development and delivery of its work programme and any associated task and finish 
groups  

  

Scrutinising and developing policy  
  

▪ To assist in the development of council policy through scrutinising of draft policies, 
and improvement and refinement of existing policy   

▪ To challenge policies on a sound basis of evidence for example against legislation or 
local political priority  

▪ To assess the impact of existing policy and identify areas for improvement  
▪ To identify where new policies might be required to address forthcoming legislation  

  

Holding the Executive to account, monitoring performance and service delivery  
  

▪ To monitor the performance of internal and external providers against standards and 
targets including questioning of executive and senior officers on the delivery of 
targets   

▪ To contribute to the identification and mitigation of risk  
▪ To investigate and make recommendations to address the causes of under 

performance or poor performance  
▪ To monitor action plans or recommendations following external audit, inspection or 

regulatory reports  
▪ To evaluate the validity of executive decisions and challenge decisions through call in 

where appropriate    
▪ To build trust with the executive so that appropriate matters could be sent to 

scrutiny for a pre-decision review prior to the executive taking a final decision  
  

Promoting the work of Overview and Scrutiny  

  

▪ To promote the role of overview and scrutiny within and outside the council, 
developing effective internal relationships with officers and other members and 
external relationships with community representatives.  

▪ To demonstrate an objective non political and evidence based approach to overview 
and scrutiny, by utilising a wide range of research in any work undertaken including 
sources of information outside the Council   

Appendix A

Page 37



 

33 

▪ To add value to the decision making and service provision of the authority through 
effective scrutiny  

▪ To be able to demonstrate where scrutiny is making a difference by its involvement  
  

Community engagement  
  

▪ To use scrutiny as a means to address community issues and engage the public in 
forward work programmes  

▪ To encourage stakeholders to participate in the work of the authority   
▪ To assist in developing locally viable and acceptable policy solutions  
▪ To build a dialogue around priorities, objectives and  performance, among 

communities and stakeholders  
▪ To take a county wide perspective in dealing with issues  

  

Participating in joint scrutiny  
  

▪ To work within the appropriate terms of reference and protocols governing joint 
working in scrutiny  

▪ To apply the appropriate tests and criteria when deciding whether or not to 
undertake joint scrutiny  

▪ To contribute to the scrutiny of regional bodies and partnerships  
▪ To encourage public engagement in joint scrutiny  
▪ To work effectively with partner scrutineers from other authorities and 

organisations.  
  

Meeting participation  
  

▪ To make adequate and appropriate preparation for meetings through research and 
briefings and planning meeting strategies  

▪ To participate in a proactive objective, informed and effective manner taking 
account of the Code of Conduct, Standing Orders and other constitutional 
requirements  

▪ To demonstrate effective scrutiny inquiry skills in questioning, listening and 
information handling  

▪ To be non-political  
▪ To focus on outcomes / making a difference by participation  

  

3.       Values  
  

To be committed to the values of the Council and the following values in public office:  
   

▪ Openness and transparency  
▪ Honesty and integrity  
▪ Tolerance and respect  
▪ Equality and fairness  
▪ Appreciation of cultural difference  

Appendix A

Page 38



 

   34 

▪ Sustainability   

Appendix A

Page 39



 

35 

  

Leader of the Opposition Role Description  
  

1. Accountabilities  
  

▪ To the nominating group within the constitution   
  

2. Role Purpose and Activity  
  

Providing political leadership for an opposition group   
  

▪ To be a political figurehead for the opposition group; to be the principal political 
spokesperson for the Council’s opposition.  

▪ To provide leadership in the constructive challenge of the Council’s policies  
▪ To  constructively challenge the  vision for the Council and community where 

appropriate  
▪ To provide strong, clear leadership in the co-ordination of alternative policies, 

strategies and service delivery  
  

Representing  the Authority’s opposition  
  

▪ To represent the Opposition Group to a high standard; providing a strong, competent 
and eloquent figure to represent the opposition within the Authority.  

▪ To represent the Council on external bodies  
  

Internal governance, ethical standards and relationships  

  

▪ To promote and support good governance of the Council and its affairs  
▪ To provide community leadership and promote active citizenship  
▪ To promote and support open and transparent government   
▪ To promote, support, and adhere to respectful, appropriate and effective 

relationships with employees of the Council  
▪ To promote, support and adhere to the Member’s Code of Conduct, Member/Officer 

Protocol and the highest standards of behaviour in public office         

  

3. Values  
  

To be committed to and demonstrate the following values in public office:  
   

▪ Openness and transparency  
▪ Honesty and integrity  
▪ Tolerance and respect  
▪ Equality and fairness  
▪ Appreciation of cultural difference  
▪ Sustainability  
▪ Inclusive leadership  

Appendix A

Page 40



 

   36 

▪ Consensus building  
  

Role of the Deputy Leader of the Opposition  

  

▪ To fulfil the duties of the Leader in his or her absence  
▪ To assist the Leader in specific duties as required  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Appendix A

Page 41



 

37 

 
 
 
 

Political Group Leader Role Description 

1.    Accountabilities  

▪ To the nominating Group 

  
2. Role Purpose and Activity 

 

Providing political leadership to the Group 

▪ To be a political figurehead and role model for the Group 

▪ To be the principal political spokesperson for the Group 

▪ If in power, to provide Party Political leadership in the development of the Council’s 

vision or policies and, if in opposition to provide constructive challenge and 

alternatives to the ruling Political Group’s vision and policies.  

▪ To canvass a range of views within the Political Group in the formulation of policy.  

▪ To integrate and represent Political Group policy at a local level.  

▪ To co-operate with other Political Groups where appropriate, particularly in matters 

of a non-Party Political nature.  

▪ To chair and/or attend meetings where appointed to a representative role within the 

Council.  

▪ To liaise with other local and regional representatives of the party. 

▪ To be the representative voice of the Group for example and where applicable, in its 

dealings with outside organisations such as the Welsh Government or Senedd 

 

Internal governance, ethical standards and relationships: 

▪ To promote and support good governance of the Council and its affairs  

▪ To provide community leadership and promote active citizenship  

▪ To promote and support open and transparent government  

▪ To promote, support, and adhere to respectful, appropriate and effective 

relationships with employees and other members of the Council  

▪ To promote, support and adhere to the Member’s Code of Conduct, Member/Officer 

Protocol and the highest standards of behaviour in public office 

▪ Encourage due regard to the Seven Principles of Public life and to civility in public life 

▪ To participate in and encourage Group members to take part in relevant 

development opportunities. 

▪ To set clear expectations of the behaviour of group members and challenge any 

inappropriate behaviour 

▪ To promote diversity among Group members 

Appendix A

Page 42



 

   38 

▪ To encourage Group members to claim salaries and reimbursements due to them in 

accordance with the determinations of the IRPW 

 

Duty to promote and maintain high standards of conduct by Group Members in 

accordance with the Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021  

▪ Take reasonable steps to promote and maintain high standards of conduct by the 

members of the Group. 

▪ Co-operate with the council’s standards committee (and any sub-committee of the 

committee) in the exercise of the standards committee’s functions. Specifically, to 

co-operate with the Standards Committee in its duty to monitor compliance of 

Group Leaders with their duty under the act and in providing information for the 

Standards Committee’s annual report.  

▪ To work constructively with the Monitoring Officer and other Group Leaders in 

relation to this duty 

▪ To work within the local resolution protocol where this applies 

▪ To participate in any training relating specifically to this duty. 

 

3.    Values  

To be committed to and demonstrate the following values in public office:  

▪ Openness and transparency 

▪ Honesty and integrity  

▪ Tolerance and respect  

▪ Equality and fairness  

▪ Appreciation of cultural difference  

▪ Sustainability  

▪ Inclusive leadership  

▪ Consensus building  

 

 

 

 
 

Appendix A

Page 43



 

39 

 Political Group Leader supplementary guidance  
 
 
The Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act places a duty on Group Leaders to take 

“Reasonable Steps” to promote and maintain high standards of conduct by the members of their 

group. The following note provides further interpretation of the Act in support of the Group 

Leaders’ role description.  

• Group Leaders have a duty to promote and maintain high standards of behaviour by 

members of their group in a Unitary Authority. This applies to those group members 

whenever they are acting or giving the impression of acting in their capacity as a member. 

• This duty has been introduced by the Welsh Government to encourage high standards of 

behaviour from members, including civility and respect in all situations and towards all 

people. The duty is not intended to be onerous and will not cover everyone (clearly those 

members who do not belong to a group), but rather to be proportionate and helpful and 

encourage the prevention of inappropriate behaviour before it becomes a breach of the 

Code.  

• All councillors already have a responsibility to report breaches of the Code of Conduct  

• The Duty applies to Group Leaders for their group members whenever these members are 

for example acting on the Council, in political group meetings, in the community and on 

outside bodies such as Fire and Rescue Authorities, National ark Authorities, Police 

Authorities, Community and Town Councils, Corporate Joint Committees and school 

governing bodies. 

• In the case of outside bodies, the standards of conduct which apply are those set out by the 

body on which the group member is serving. If these are not available, the Council Code of 

Conduct applies.  

• The Duty does not make Group Leaders accountable for the behaviour of their members as 

Conduct must be a matter of individual responsibility. However, Group Leaders must take 

“Reasonable steps” to promote and maintain high standards of conduct by the members of 

the group. And must cooperate with the standards committee and any subgroup of the 

committee in the exercise of the standards committee’s functions. And must have regard to 

guidance issued by Welsh Ministers on these matters. 

• “Reasonable steps” might include Group Leaders: 

o Having informal discussions with and/or requesting training for members who may 

be showing early signs of inappropriate behaviour to ‘nip this in the bud’ before it 

becomes problematic or in danger of breaching the Code. 

o Working constructively with Standards committees to report compliance with their 

duty, any serious concerns about members’ behaviour which have not been 

remedied by informal actions, and training requirements for themselves and for 

their group members.  

o Working constructively with and supporting the Monitoring Officer in these matters 

o Acting as a positive role model for members, demonstrating the highest possible 

standards of behaviour, civility, and respect. 

o Maintaining an awareness of what constitutes very high standards of behaviour, 

civility, and respect, particularly with regard to equalities and diversity. 

o Working constructively with other group members on the council and on other 

councils to ensure the highest possible standards of behaviour both in the Council 

and throughout Wales.  

Appendix A

Page 44



 

   40 

o Welcoming and responding to concerns raised by Group members about behaviour 

in the group.  

• Standards committees have a duty to monitor compliance by Political Group Leaders with 

their duties and advising, training or arranging to train leaders of political groups on the 

council about matters relating to their duties.  

• Standards committees must give an annual report to council about their work including 

compliance of group Leaders with this duty.  

• The sanctions which may be applied to group members acting inappropriately on an outside 

body are those set out by those bodies. Where sanctions are not set out, the Council rules 

apply. 

• If a member has breached the Code of Conduct and is suspended, they are only suspended 

in the capacity as a member of one relevant authority. They would have to be disqualified 

for it to apply to their capacity as a member of more than one relevant authority. (Local 

Government Investigations (Functions of Monitoring Officers and Standards Committees 

(Wales) regs 2001)  

• “A group leader who fails to comply with the new duty in a meaningful way may 

potentially be regarded as bringing their office into disrepute, in breach of paragraph 

6(1)(a) of the Code” The Public Services Ombudsman for Wales, The Code of Conduct for 

members of local authorities in Wales May 2021.  

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Appendix A

Page 45

https://www.ombudsman.wales/wp-content/uploads/2021/05/Code-of-Conduct-Guidance-CC-CBC-NPA-PCP.pdf
https://www.ombudsman.wales/wp-content/uploads/2021/05/Code-of-Conduct-Guidance-CC-CBC-NPA-PCP.pdf


 

41 

 
Member Champion Purpose and Role   

  

What are Member Champions?   
  

Member Champions exist to provide a voice for traditionally underrepresented groups, or 
issues which need to be kept at the forefront of council business although they may not be 
the responsibility of any individual or committee.    
  

Member Champions, (sometimes called lead members) are elected members who in 
addition to their other council responsibilities make sure that the issue or group that they 
are championing are taken into account when council policy is being developed and 
decisions are made. Members act as champions in areas such as children, homelessness, 
equalities, older people, young people, scrutiny, member support and development, health 
improvement and anti-poverty. There is a statutory role for a lead member of children’s and 
young people’s services with a responsibility for over-seeing the arrangements made under 
sections 25 and 26 of the 2004 Children Act.  
  

Guidance on undertaking the role with regard to the subject knowledge that members need 
is sometimes available from the outside bodies associated with the issue being championed 
for example the toolkit for older peoples’ champions from the LGA. Otherwise they will be 
reliant on their authority for guidance in the subject they lead on and also their role as lead 
member in this area.   
  

What do they do?  
  

Typically, the lead member will:  
   

▪ Make sure that their area of interest is taken into account when developing policy or 
making decisions  

▪ Ask questions about performance and resourcing for the area  
▪ Raise the profile of the area and make the authority aware of good practice.  
▪ Engage with external bodies who work in the area  
▪ Engage with other officers and members in relation to the role.   
▪ Engage with community groups with an interest/stake in the area  Report action to 

the council  
  

How does their role fit within the corporate structure?  
  

This will vary according to the area/issue that is being championed and how the authority 
functions. There is potential for confusion and overlap between the role of the member 
champion and those of the relevant executive member or overview and scrutiny members. 
The champion role itself could be undertaken by either the relevant executive member or a 
non executive member.   
  

Appendix A

Page 46



 

   42 

It is therefore important that members and officers work together to agree roles and action 
for the area being championed and that there are mechanisms for lead members to report 
on their activities. It is helpful for the authority to draft a protocol which sets out what 
powers champions have and do not have, such as whether or not they are able to make 
decisions on behalf of the authority. Similarly, the appointment of champions varies 
between authorities, and includes appointments being made by full council meetings or by 
the leader.  
  

The Role Description  
  

It is difficult to create a role description that fits with the different roles expected of 
champions and how they operate in the different authorities’ structures. The following is a 
generic model which will require local adaptation, particularly to reflect the difference that 
may exist between a statutory role, one undertaken by an executive member and a non- 
executive lead.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Appendix A

Page 47



 

43 

  

 

 Member Champion Role Description   
  

1. Accountabilities  
  

▪ To Full Council   
  

2. Role Purpose and Activities  
  

Within the Council   
  

▪ To promote the interest being championed within the Council’s corporate and service 
priorities   

▪ To promote the needs of the client group represented in the interest to the decision 
makers within the council  

▪ To work with the decision makers in the Council to establish strategies/ policies/work 
plans connected with the interest  

▪ To maintain an awareness of all matters connected with the interest  
▪ To contribute to good practice and the continuous improvement of services and 

functions related to the interest  
▪ To engage with members in matters related to the interest such as attending 

Overview and Scrutiny/Cabinet /Full Council meetings etc.  
▪ Raising awareness of and taking a lead role in the development of all members and 

officers in relation to the interest  
  

 In the Community  
  

▪ To raise the profile of the interest in the community  
▪ To engage with citizens and community groups in matters related to the interest  
▪ To lead and support local initiatives related to the interest  

  

3. Values  
  

To be committed to the values of the Council and the following values in public office:  

   
▪ Openness and transparency  
▪ Honesty and integrity  
▪ Tolerance and respect  
▪ Equality and fairness  
▪ Appreciation of cultural difference  
▪ Sustainability  
▪ Inclusive leadership  

  

  

Appendix A

Page 48



Appendix B 

 

1   Councillor Job Roles 
  

Bookmark 1 

Role Key Messages 

Decision Maker Member of many decision making committees 
Makes decisions about how Council services are run 
Makes decisions about planning and licensing 
May be a local school governor 
May be a community centre committee or community 
partnership member 
Will represent your views when making decisions 
 

Community Volunteer Gets involved with many community activities, groups and 
projects 
Can give advice and help organise support 
Can help volunteers find something to get involved in 
 

Signposter Will let people know about services offered by the Council 
and other agencies 
Can provide advice about who to contact  
Can explain why Council decisions have been taken 
 

Watchdog Can report problems about local public services 
Can spot common problems and get something done 
Member of Overview & Scrutiny Boards which look in detail 
at some services 
Can raise problems at meetings where decisions are made 
 

Caseworker Deals with individual problems and complaints 
Gives advice and suggests solutions  
May hold local surgeries 
Will act as a representative at meetings and through letters 
 

Campaigner Works to support causes of personal interest 
Can support causes in the local community or Swansea 
wide 
May be involved with charities and voluntary groups 
May be an ‘issue champion’ in the Council (e.g. for Young 
People) 
Can  give advice about campaigning 
 

 

 
  

Page 49



Scrutiny Convener Role Description 
 

 

1 The Scrutiny Convener will be responsible for a portfolio of scrutiny topics that 
they will manage and deliver.  These topics, allocated by the Council’s Scrutiny 
Programme Committee, will not be confined to a single subject or department.  
The scrutiny work led by these conveners will be done through informal task and 
finish groups / panels and the conveners will chair the meetings of these groups. 
Conveners will be accountable to the Scrutiny Programme Committee. 

 
2 Providing leadership 
 

a) To provide confident and effective management of the topics for which 
they are responsible. 

b) To promote the role of scrutiny within and outside the council, liaising 
effectively both internally within the Council and externally with the 
Council’s partners. 

c) To contribute to the development of a balanced scrutiny work programme.  
d) To ensure the programme takes account of relevant factors such as: the 

work programmes of the executive and other committees, strategic 
priorities and risks, and relevant community issues. 

e) To demonstrate an objective and evidence based approach to scrutiny 
and to facilitate the identification of conclusions and recommendations 
accordingly. 

f) To evaluate the impact and added value of scrutiny activity and identify 
areas for improvement. 

g) To promote cross party working. 
h) To keep any relevant deputies fully involved and informed to ensure they 

are able to cover the conveners’ role as required. 
 
3 Managing the work programme 
 

a) To ensure that the work programme is delivered. 
b) To report on progress against the work programme to Council, and others 

as appropriate. 
c) To liaise with officers, other members and community representatives to 

resource and deliver the work programme. 
 
4 Effective meeting management  
 

a) To set agendas containing clear objectives and outcomes for meetings 
b) To manage the progress of business at meetings, ensuring that meeting 

objectives are met. 
c) To ensure that the necessary preparation is done beforehand. 
d) To ensure that all participants have an opportunity to make an 

appropriate contribution 
 
5 Community leadership 
 

a) Where necessary to act as a focus for liaison between the council, 
community and external bodies in relation to the scrutiny function. 

b) To build understanding and ownership of the scrutiny function within the 
community. 

c) To involve fully external stakeholders for example, service users, expert 
witnesses and partners in scrutiny activity. 

Page 50



d) To support the involvement and development of scrutiny members 
e) To encourage high performance from all scrutiny councillors in task and 

finish groups. 
f) To assess individual and collective performance within task and finish 

groups and facilitate appropriate development. 
 
6 Values 
 
6.1 To be committed to the values of the Council and the following values in 

public office: 
 

a) Openness and transparency; 
b) Honesty and integrity; 
c) Tolerance and respect; 
d) Equality and fairness; 
e) Appreciation of cultural difference; 
f) Sustainability. 

 
 
  

Page 51



Equality Member Champion - Role Description 
 
Bookmark 15 

1 In addition to the Generic Member Champion Role Description, the Equality 
Member Champions shall abide by the following. 

 
2 Based on the existing role and parts of the WLGA Member Role Guidance the 

core role of the Elected Member Equality Champion role in the City and County of 
Swansea would be to: 

 
a) Be familiar with equality and diversity legislation and issues; 
b) Be familiar with the needs and priorities of people with protected 

characteristics and represented groups; 
c) Raise awareness of the views and needs of people with protected 

characteristics and represented groups within the business of the Council; 
d) Support the Council’s engagement and communication with people with 

protected characteristics and represented groups; 
e) Encourage the participation of people with protected characteristics and 

represented groups in the work of the Council including the planning and 
evaluation of the services it provides; 

f) Establish effective engagement with, and be recognised as, a link 
between people with protected characteristics and represented groups 
and the authority’s members, officers and the Equalities Committee; 

g) Champion good practice across the Council including learning from other 
organisations and linking with partner organisations; 

h) Regularly report to the Equality Committee and represented groups. 
 
3 The aim would be to implement and adapt the role over a period of time in 

conjunction with the development of the role of the Equalities Committee.  A 
Member Champion’s role could cover more than one of the protected 
characteristics and represented groups. 

 
 
  

Page 52



 Chair of Policy Development Committee 
 

Bookmark 23 

1 Accountabilities 
 

a) To the Leader of the Council; 
b) To Cabinet; 
c) To Council. 

 
2  Role Purpose and Activity 
 
2.1  Providing Portfolio Guidance and Assistance to the Cabinet Member 
 

a) To assist the Cabinet Member in giving political leadership in relation to 
Cabinet portfolios; 

b) To provide support to Cabinet Members in the implementation and delivery 
of portfolio policies and change and alignment with the direction in 
Sustainable Swansea - Fit for the Future; 

c) To liaise and work closely with the Chair of the Scrutiny Programme 
Committee and the Scrutiny Inquiry Panel Conveners and to comment on 
reports as necessary. 

 
2.2 Contributing to the setting of the Strategic Agenda and Work Programme for 

the portfolio 
 

a) To work with the Cabinet to formulate policy development both strategic 
and statutory.  Subject to the Cabinet Member having the final say, 
ensuring that the political will of the majority is carried to and through 
Cabinet; 

b) To provide assistance in working up and carrying through a strategic work 
programme both political and statutory.  Make sure that the portfolio’s 
forward work programme is kept up to date and accurate. 

 
2.3 Providing representation for the Portfolio 
 

a) To fully support the Cabinet Member when they have to provide a strong, 
competent and persuasive figure to represent the portfolio.  Be a 
figurehead in meetings with stakeholders. 

 
2.4 Reporting and Accounting 
 

a) To report as appropriate to the Leader of the Council, Council, Cabinet, 
Chair of the Scrutiny Programme Committee, regulatory bodies and the 
media; 

b) To appear with the Cabinet Member if necessary before the Scrutiny 
Programme Committee in respect of matters within the portfolio. 

 
2.5 Taking an active part in Cabinet meetings and Decision Making 
 

a) To show an interest in and support for the portfolio of others; 
b) To recognise and contribute to issues which cut across portfolios or are 

issues of collective responsibility. 
 
2.6 Leading Partnerships and Community Leadership 
 

Page 53



a) To assist the Cabinet Member in giving leadership to local strategic 
partnerships and local partners in the pursuit of common aims and 
priorities; 

b) To negotiate and broker in cases of differing priorities and disagreement; 
c) To provide community leadership and active citizenship by showing vision 

and foresight. 
 
2.7 Internal Governance, Ethical Standards and Relationships 
 

a) To promote and support good governance of the Council and its affairs; 
b) To promote and support open and transparent government; 
c) To support, and adhere to respectful, appropriate and effective 

relationships with employees of the Council; 
d) To adhere to the Member’s Code of Conduct, Member / Officer Protocol 

and the highest standards of behaviour in public office. 
 
2.8 Providing leadership and direction 
 

a) To provide confident and effective management of meetings to facilitate 
inclusively, participation and clear decision making; 

b) To demonstrate integrity and impartiality in decision making which accord 
with legal, constitutional and policy requirements; 

c) To communicate on behalf of the Leader of the Council and Cabinet on 
Council Strategies, Policies, Services and Procedures. 

 
3 Values 
 
3.1 To be committed to the values of the Council and the following values in 

public office: 
 

a) Working Together; 
b) Innovation; 
c) People Focussed. 

 

Page 54



 

 
 

Report of the Chair 
 

Democratic Services Committee – 14 February 2022 
 

Work Plan 2021-2022 
 

 
Date 

 

 
Item 

 
27 September 2021 
(Special) 

 

 Councillor Induction & Training Programme 2022 

 Results of the Questionnaire on Remote Meetings 

 Hybrid / Multi-Location Meeting Policy 

 Democratic Services Committee Annual Reports 2019-
2020 & 2020-2021 
 

 
 
8 November 2021 

 

 Councillors’ ICT Allowances Policy 

 Councillor Expenses / Costs of Care  

 Hybrid / Multi-Location Meeting Policy 

 Diversity in Democracy Action Plan 

 Feedback from Councillor Champion 

 IRPW Draft Annual Report 2022-2023 - Consultation  
 

 
10 (was 31) January 
2022 

 

 Councillors ICT Allowances Policy - May 2022 & 
Beyond 

 Review of Councillors Handbook 
 

14 February 2022  Review of Councillors Handbook (Appendix D) 
 

 
21 March 2022 
 

 

 

Page 55

Agenda Item 5


	Agenda
	3 Minutes.
	4 Review of Councillors Handbook - Role Descriptions & Person Specifications.
	04A - App A - Framework - Role Descriptions+Person Specs
	04B - App B - Swansea Council Specific Role Descriptions & Personal Specs

	5 Workplan 2021-2022.



